

SAPIENS

S.A.P.I.EN.S Surveys and Perspectives Integrating Environment and

Society

5.1 | 2012 Vol.5 / n°1

Applying Ecosystem Services Approaches for Biodiversity Conservation: Benefits and Challenges

Jane Carter Ingram, Kent H. Redford et James E.M. Watson



Édition électronique

URL : http://journals.openedition.org/sapiens/1459 ISSN : 1993-3819

Éditeur Institut Veolia

Référence électronique

Jane Carter Ingram, Kent H. Redford and James E.M. Watson, « Applying Ecosystem Services Approaches for Biodiversity Conservation: Benefits and Challenges », *S.A.P.I.EN.S* [Online], 5.1 | 2012, Online since 06 November 2012, connection on 30 April 2019. URL : http://journals.openedition.org/ sapiens/1459

Licence Creative Commons

Veolia Environnement

G

Perspectives

Applying Ecosystem Services Approaches for Biodiversity Conservation: Benefits and Challenges

Jane Carter Ingram^{1,2*}, Kent H. Redford^{3,4} and James E.M. Watson^{1,5}

- 1 Global Conservation Program, Wildlife Conservation Society, Bronx NY 10460 USA
- 2 Center for Environmental Research and Conservation, The Earth Institute at Columbia University, Schermerhorn Extension, 10th Floor Columbia University, 1200 Amsterdam Avenue, New York, NY 10027-5557
- 3 WCS Institute, Wildlife Conservation Society, Bronx, NY 10460 USA
- 4 Archipelago Consulting, Irvington, NY 10533 USA
- 5 School of Biological Sciences, University of Queensland, St Lucia QLD 4072, Australia

* Corresponding author (email: cingram@wcs.org)

Ecosystem services as a concept and framework for understanding the way in which nature ben efits people has led to a suite of approaches that are increasingly being used to support sustainable management of biodiversity and ecosystems. However, the utility of the ecosystem services framework and associated tools for supporting biodiversity conservation are the subject of ongoing debates among conservationists. In this paper, we discuss several general ways in which ecosystem services approaches are supporting biodiversity conservation, which may not have been possible otherwise. The new opportunities that ecosystem services approaches provide for biodiversity conservation include: the development of broader constituencies for conservation and expanded possibilities to influence decision-making; opportunities to add or create new value to protected areas; and the opportunities to manage ecosystems sustainably outside of protected areas. We also review areas in which ecosystem services approaches may not effectively conserve certain aspects of biodiversity. Areas of particular concern in this regard include: species without utilitarian or economic value; ecological processes that do not directly benefit people; and critical ecological functions that may be undermined in attempts to optimize a target service. Understanding the benefits and limitations of using ecosystem services approaches for achieving biodiversity conservation will help ensure that the finite resources available for biodiversity conservation and sustainable development are used as strategically and effectively as possible to maintain the multiple components of biodiversity and to support human well-being.

Keywords: ecosystem services, biodiversity conservation, conservation risks, conservation opportunities, conservation targets



z

ш

Volume **5** issue **1** 2012

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Biodiversity Conservation Approaches and Ecosystem Services Approaches
- 3 Benefits of Ecosystem Services Approaches for Biodiversity Conservation
 - 3.1 Broadening Constituencies for Conservation and Informing Decision-making
 - 3.2 Opportunity to Increase the Value of Areas Prioritized for Biodiversity
 - 3.3 Opportunity to Support Sustainable Management of Ecosystems Outside of Protected Areas
- 4 Challenges Associated with Using Ecosystem
 - Services Approaches for Biodiversity Conservation 4.1 Ecosystem Services Approaches May
 - Not Capture Critical Species4.2 Ecosystem Services Approaches May Not
 - Prioritize Ecological Processes That Do Not Deliver Benefits To People
 - 4.3 Optimizing a Single Service May Undermine Biodiversity or Critical Ecological Functions
- 5 Conclusions
- 6 Acknowledgements
- 7 References

1. INTRODUCTION

Although scholars have long recognised the role functioning ecosystems play in maintaining biodiversity and human societies (Myers, 1983; De Groot, 1992; Daily, 1997; Costanza et al., 1997), it is only over the last decade that the concept of 'ecosystem services' has been widely adopted (Goldman & Tallis, 2009). The Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MA, 2005) served to define and popularize the concept and has contributed to a number of other major international initiatives including The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity (TEEB) and the recently established Intergovernmental Panel on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES). Increasingly bilateral and multilateral donors, large foundations, and businesses are establishing well-funded programs primarily focused on protecting and/or restoring ecosystem services. For example, the global corporation Dow Chemical Company has recently announced its goal to mainstream ecosystem services into all of its business planning.¹

While ecosystem services as a concept has been embraced by many members of the academic community, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), the private sector, and donors, the concept has been met with mixed enthusiasm within the biodiversity conservation community (Goldman & Tallis, 2009; McCauley, 2006; Redford & Adams, 2009; Reyers *et al.*, 2012). Many conservation scientists believe that there is an obvious, harmonious marriage between the two concepts of biodiversity conservation and ecosystem services: both are based on sustainable management and conservation of nature; seek to raise awareness of the importance of nature; and seek ways to balance human needs with the persistence of natural systems. However, the details of how biodiversity conservation fits within an ecosystem services framework and what 'ecosystem services approaches' mean for conservation (Mace et al., 2012) have raised concerns among other members of the biodiversity conservation community (for an example of contrasting visions, see Redford & Adams, 2009; Karieva & Marvier, 2009). While it is clear that many overlaps exist between the two approaches, it is important to recognize that ecosystem services approaches and biodiversity conservation are not identical fields of thought or practice and may not always be compatible with one another (Naidoo et al., 2008). Yet, critical analyses of the synergies and divergences between the two approaches remain few (but see Goldman & Tallis 2009; Mac-Fayden et al., 2012; Reyers et al., 2012 for recent discussions on this topic). Thus, we believe it is important and timely to explore benefits and potential challenges in applying ecosystem services approaches for biodiversity conservation to ensure that both are used in complementary, effective manners to better support human well-being and to conserve more effectively the many different dimensions of biological diversity.

This paper reviews real and potential opportunities and challenges of applying ecosystem services approaches for biodiversity conservation. We first broadly define what is meant by ecosystem services and biodiversity conservation approaches, then, identify ways in which the application of ecosystem services approaches can contribute directly to biodiversity conservation, and, finally, identify situations in which ecosystem services approaches may not be helpful if applied as a substitute for other biodiversity conservation approaches.

2. BIODIVERSITY CONSERVATION APPROACHES AND ECOSYSTEM SERVICES APPROACHES

The modern conservation movement emerged in the late 19th century in response to fundamental changes in world views concerning the nature of the relationship between humans and the natural world (Jepson & Whittaker, 2002). In its early days, biodiversity conservation was motivated by a desire to preserve sites with special meaning for the intellectual and aesthetic contemplation of nature, and by acceptance that the human conquest of nature carries with it a moral responsibility to ensure the survival of threatened life forms (Leopold, 1949; Ladle & Whittaker, 2011). Over the past century a wide range of different conservation-oriented approaches have been enacted, from local and regional scale activities, such as protected area establishment, *ex-situ* conservation, recovery planning for species and ecosystems, specific threat management (e.g. disease, fire), and biodiversity off-sets, to global scale inter-governmental policy developments such as the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and the Convention on International Trade on Endangered Species (CITES) (Redford et al., 2003; Whittaker et al., 2005). These approaches are based on multiple values of biodiversity, including those val-

1 Dow, 2011, http://www.dow.com/news/multimedia/media_kits/2011_01_24a/pdfs/dow-tnc_joint_press_release.pdf , accessed on April 15, 2012

ues not related to humans.

Compared with the conservation movement, the formal concept of ecosystem services (and the development of approaches that are aimed at protecting or restoring them) is relatively new, although many people were working on various aspects of ecosystem services long before there was an official term for it. "Ecosystem services" broadly refers to the benefits that people obtain from ecosystems (MA, 2005), although variations of this definition exist throughout the literature, along with multiple classification schemes for characterizing different ecosystem services (compare for example, Daily, 1997; Costanza et al., 1997; Boyd & Banzhaf, 2007; Fisher et al., 2009a). The approaches most commonly used to date in ecosystem service literature, policy, and practice broadly encompass the science of identifying, measuring, mapping and/or modelling the stocks and flows of different ecosystem services and the synergies and/or tradeoffs that may occur among them as a result of different decisions (i.e. Kremen, 2005; Luck et al., 2009; Tallis & Polasky, 2009; Aries, 2012²; NatCap, 2012³; UNEP-WCMC, 2012⁴); identifying and quantifying the social, cultural and/or economic values of ecosystem services (*i.e.* Costanza *et al.*, 1997; MA, 2005; TEEB, 2010; Daw et al., 2011; Chan et al., 2012; Norton et al., 2012); and the development of various incentives, such as Payments for Ecosystem Services (PES), to conserve ecosystem services (e.g. Pagiola et al., 2005; Wunder, 2005; Wunder et al., 2008; Clements et al., 2010). While the valuation of ecosystem services and market-based mechanisms such as PES are among the most widely cited and used ecosystem services approaches, they represent only several of many ecosystem services approaches that exist. It is also important to note that inherent in the MA (2005) is the idea that multiple ecosystem services are necessary to fulfil the multiple dimensions of human wellbeing and, as demonstrated through more recent initiatives such as the Natural Capital Project, tradeoffs among ecosystem services can occur as a result of different policies or resource use decisions. Identifying potential tradeoffs between/ among ecosystem services so as to avoid potential negative impacts and unintended consequences of environment and development decisions is a distinct characteristic of many evolving ecosystem service frameworks and tools (e.g. Tallis & Polasky, 2009; Daw et al., 2011). Thus, ecosystem services approaches differ from historical siloed approaches to natural resource management in the development context because they provide a framework for anticipating a wide range of social and ecological consequences that may result from different decisions and provide tools for identifying, negotiating, avoiding, and managing potential negative tradeoffs (DeClerck et al., 2006; Ingram et al., 2012). However, this holistic understanding of and approach to managing ecosystem services is not always found in current "ecosystem service" projects or programs, even if it represents the latest thinking in the field.

We acknowledge that there are many formal and informal

2 ARIES (Artificial Intelligence for Ecosystem Services) http://www.ariesonline.org/

3. BENEFITS OF ECOSYSTEM SERVICES APPROACHES FOR BIODIVERSITY CONSERVATION

Because ecosystem services are provided by various elements and combinations of biodiversity that are important to people, there are many ways in which ecosystem services approaches can contribute to biodiversity conservation. Here we identify three distinct ways in which ecosystem services approaches are being and can be used to directly support biodiversity conservation: the development of broader constituencies for conservation and informing decision-making; opportunities to add or create new value to protected areas; and the opportunities to sustainably manage ecosystems outside of protected areas.

3.1 BROADENING CONSTITUENCIES FOR CONSERVATION AND INFORMING DECISION-MAKING

The ecosystem services framework has been embraced by a broad range of stakeholders, some of which have not engaged with the biodiversity conservation community (Slootweg & van Beukering, 2008; Goldman & Tallis, 2009; Houdet et al., 2012). This rapid uptake is most likely because broad understanding and appreciation of the value of ecosystem services makes them relevant to certain types of decision-making that might have previously ignored biodiversity on its own. For example, the for-profit sector is embracing the concept of ecosystem services because such a framework allows consideration of new business opportunities that might replace unsustainable practices, in contrast to only engaging with biodiversity in terms of regulatory compliance, impact mitigation, and/ or reputational liability (e.g. Houdet et al., 2012). However, analyses regarding the ways in which business practices and performance are actually changing as a result of adopting ecosystem services approaches are needed.

Ecosystem services approaches also present opportunities to build constituencies for biodiversity and ecosystem management with communities who live in rural areas, but who may not be willing to support biodiversity conservation. For example, outside of the Tarangire National Park in Tanzania, wildlife safari tour operators have established a Payments for Ecosystem Services (PES) contract with a Masaai community that requires them to help protect wildlife

approaches to biodiversity conservation and ecosystem services management, and often approaches are used that are not classified as either, even though they may benefit ecosystem services, biodiversity, or both. Furthermore, we recognize that there are many overlaps between the tools and strategies used in the different sectors. It is beyond the scope of this paper to address or compare all of these approaches; rather, we discuss some of the most commonly used ecosystem services approaches and how they might influence biodiversity conservation objectives.

³ The Natural Capital Project, http://www.naturalcapitalproject.org/

 $^{4\ {\}sf UNEP-WCMC, http://www.unep-wcmc.org/developing-mainstreaming-ecosystem-service-indicators_554.html}$

and to maintain grasslands for wildlife and livestock grazing rather than converting them to agriculture (Nelson et al., 2010; Sachedina & Nelson, 2012). If the community upholds the contract, the tour operators pay the community for their efforts in maintaining a cultural ecosystem service — wildlife and their grazing areas — that is critical for their business. This cultural service has helped generate a new revenue stream for the community, which has helped compensate them for their efforts in engaging in natural resource practices that support conservation. Traditional biodiversity conservation approaches may not have worked here due to the villagers' suspicions about hidden conservation agendas; a suspicion not uncommon in this part of the world where some people believe conservationists have prioritized the needs of species over the needs of extremely poor people (Brockington, 2002; Sachedina & Nelson, 2012).

Another example of how ecosystem services can open the door to constituencies who are not interested in supporting biodiversity per se can be seen in the South African Municipality of uMhlathuze, which falls within a biodiversity hotspot. In these areas, pressures to expand development into sub-catchment areas were extremely high and politicians in the area were averse to biodiversity conservation due to the tension between conservation versus development issues. For this reason, the uMhlathuze Municipality opted to undertake a Strategic Catchment Assessment, focusing on the value of ecosystem services in the area. The study highlighted services that critical ecosystems were providing free of charge to the Municipality, such as nutrient cycling and waste management, water supply, water regulation, flood regulation, and drought management. The total value of services provided by all catchments in the area was approximately US\$200 million per year. Politicians were more supportive of protecting the natural environment once they realized that the area's ecosystems, which had traditionally been prioritized for biodiversity, have considerable economic values. Thus, following the study, the Municipality embarked upon a negotiating process to identify sensitive ecosystems that should be conserved; linkages between ecosystems; areas that could be developed without negatively impacting ecosystem services; and management actions that should be implemented in order to conserve biologically important ecosystems and ensure sustainable use of biodiversity resources to benefit all residents of uMhlathuze (Slootweg & van Beukering, 2008). The ecosystem services approach applied in this case informed decision-making around development planning that resulted in actions aimed to support conservation of key ecosystems in a biologically rich area, in a situation where biodiversity alone did not present a sufficient reason to manage the area's critical ecosystems sustainably. However, it is important to note that while it was an effective strategy in this case, the use of economic valuation studies of ecosystem services has resulted in mixed outcomes with respect to their impact on policy and practice (Slootweg & van Beukering, 2008; Naidoo et al., 2009; Barbier, 2012). Valuation studies that are designed at

the scale of decision-making and/or the scale of an imminent threat or problem, developed with local stakeholders in the context of prevailing social, cultural and political factors and challenges, and presented in ways that are useful to decisionmakers, as demonstrated in the case of uMhlathuze, may have more traction with respect to influencing policies and practices. However, it is also important to note that the social importance and economic values of ecosystem services are a few among many factors that may influence negotiating and decision-making over the environment and development and, thus, regardless of how compelling the results of ecosystem service assessments or valuations may be, other factors may ultimately be given more weight.

Ecosystem-based management (EBM), with a primary focus on ecosystem services, can also help broaden constituencies and influence decision-making to support conservation. EBM is an integrated approach to natural resource management that considers the entire ecosystem, including humans, and has the goal of "maintaining an ecosystem in a healthy, productive and resilient condition so that it can provide the services humans want and need" (McLeod et al., 2005). It differs from other approaches to conservation or natural resource management that focus on a single species or sector, by considering the complex interactions between humans and the living and non-living environment across multiple spatial and temporal scales (Clarke & Jupiter, 2010; Curtin & Prelezzo, 2010). While there are many ways in which EBM has been applied, a common element to EBM applications is an ecosystem services perspective (Agardy et al., 2011). Thus, the protection of biodiversity for its own sake is not the primary focus of EBM, but biodiversity can benefit from the implementation of EBM approaches and, in fact, biodiversity conservation is often identified by stakeholders as an important goal of the EBM planning process. For example, the EBM framework has led to the implementation of community-based ridge-to-reef management plans in Fiji and has led to the expansion of marine protected areas throughout the Western Pacific, which have been implemented to benefit people through the ecosystems services they provide (see Clarke & Jupiter, 2010). However, these projects have also helped conserve biodiversity in places where the value of biodiversity alone may not have been sufficient to encourage conservation of critical areas. By emphasizing the social, cultural, and economic importance of ecosystems for people, the EBM approach has been shown to bring disparate groups together to collaborate (Price et al., 2009) and develop management plans⁵, and can persuade decision-makers to take actions that support conservation of ecosystems (Clarke & Jupiter, 2010).

3.2 OPPORTUNITY TO INCREASE THE VALUE OF AREAS PRIORITIZED FOR BIODIVERSITY

Areas can be prioritized to protect different biodiversity values such as endemism, species richness and rarity.(Brooks *et al.*, 2004: Dietz & Czech, 2005; Dudley, 2008). Protected areas are specifically designated for a conservation purpose,

5 http://wcsfiji.org.fj/communities-cross-boundaries-for-conservation-in-cakaudrove/



Ś

but often generate other benefits due to the ecosystem services they provide (Dudley, 2008). Because many protected areas focus on restoring or maintaining unmodified or semimodified areas, they are often sources of multiple ecosystem services that may be lost when natural systems are simplified. In particular, regulatory services, also known as "invisible services" because they are hard to measure and are not directly consumed by humans, tend to be among the services most impacted by such transformations and, if lost, may have high costs on society and may be extremely expensive to repair or recover (TEEB, 2010). Valuing these and other services provided by intact, functioning ecosystems can create another reason to fund and maintain protected areas, which is increasingly important as funding for biodiversity conservation becomes limited (Emerton et al., 2006; Turner et al., 2007; Turner et al., 2012) and growing population pressures make it increasingly difficult to maintain protected areas for the sake of biodiversity alone (Mora & Sale, 2011). For example, in a recent analysis of the economic value of one of the largest forest protected areas in the Netherlands, it was found that biodiversity conservation combined with six other ecosystem services resulted in a combined value of 2,000 €/ha/year, which was over three times the economic value generated by nearby agricultural land (Hein, 2011). During times of increasing land pressures, economic austerity, and a global human population larger than it has ever been historically, analyses such as this, that demonstrate the value of protected areas for providing multiple economic and social benefits to humanity, are critical for generating and/or maintaining broad support for their persistence.

3.3 OPPORTUNITY TO SUPPORT SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT OF ECOSYSTEMS OUTSIDE OF PROTECTED AREAS

Protected areas are one of the dominant tools for biodiversity conservation (Dudley, 2008), but because they cover only 12% of the planet's surface and are often under-funded, on their own, they will not conserve all of the world's biodiversity and ecological processes (Mora & Sale, 2011). Thus, we need additional approaches to complement the protected area system in surrounding areas that can sustain biodiversity and ecological processes, and also be compatible with human development.

In many cases, the importance of ecosystem services may help incentivize conservation and sustainable management of lands and waters outside of protected areas. For example, oyster reef restoration in unprotected waters has been undertaken on the east coast of the United States to improve productivity of the oyster fishery (a provisioning service), which has also enhanced other ecosystem services such as the regulation of water quality and increased the diversity of food and non-food fish species (Hicks *et al.*, 2004, Grabowski & Peterson, 2007). Similarly, EBM aims to conserve ecosystem services through the sustainable management of land and water resources and

by rebuilding or maintaining ecological connectivity across a site(s), which might not necessarily be configured, prioritized, or protected to maximize biodiversity as a primary objective (Leslie & McLeod, 2007), but may nevertheless benefit many species and ecosystems outside of areas prioritized for biodiversity conservation. Mechanisms such as PES also have been used to support and fund sustainable land-uses that benefit biodiversity outside of traditional protected areas. For example, the city of New York pays upland farmers in the Catskills to implement land-use practices that contribute to enhanced water guality, thereby saving the city, and hence taxpayers, millions of dollars that would have been spent on building a new water treatment facility (Daily & Ellison, 2002). While the main focus of this program is enhancing water quality through sustainable land-use management practices, improved landuse and water quality will most likely improve habitat with benefits for terrestrial and aquatic biodiversity - improvements that the biodiversity community does not have to fund (*i.e.* Pagiola *et al.*, 2010).

4. CHALLENGES ASSOCIATED WITH USING ECOSYSTEM SERVICES APPROACHES FOR BIODIVERSITY CONSERVATION

Despite the increasing adoption of ecosystem services as a framework and suite of tools by the conservation community, there are still concerns over the application and efficacy of these approaches for conserving all of the components of biodiversity that the conservation community is charged with protecting. The fundamental reason for these concerns is that at their core, ecosystem services approaches prioritize those processes that contribute to *human* wellbeing. This is very different from a biodiversity conservation approach, which is concerned with identifying conservation management actions to promote the persistence of all biodiversity, including species or ecosystems that do not have an identified value for humans (biodiversity being defined as the variability among living organisms from all sources including inter alia, terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems (CBD⁶, 2012; Margules & Pressey, 2000, Possingham et al., 2001). If ecosystem services approaches are applied by conservation planners and managers to achieve biodiversity conservation outcomes, three areas may require special attention: species without utilitarian or economic value; ecological processes that do not directly benefit people; and the ecological functions that may be undermined amidst attempts to optimize kev services.

4.1 ECOSYSTEM SERVICES APPROACHES MAY NOT CAPTURE CRITICAL SPECIES

While the use of ecosystem services approaches can result in the sustainable management or protection of a considerable number of conservation 'targets' (*e.g.* species, ecosystems), it is unlikely to capture all of them. This is because valuing eco-

systems for the services they provide to people will likely result in enhanced conservation for only those species that are ecosystem service providers (Luck et al., 2009). While this will be beneficial for some species and habitats (e.g. species that are pollinators or pest regulators; species or habitats with cultural value), many taxa that do not provide services that are 'useful' or 'valuable' to people will not be prioritised and, as such, may not benefit from ecosystem services approaches. Research has shown that rare or endemic species often do not have an important functional role in a community as common species play the dominant role in the system (Cardinale et al., 2006; Naeem, 2012). These less common species may not receive adequate attention if ecosystem services approaches are employed, but these are the very species that are often viewed as the most important targets for biodiversity conservation (Garnett et al., 2011; Watson et al., 2011a,b).

Maximising species diversity is another common target in conservation planning (Klein *et al.*, 2008; Watson *et al.*, 2011a,b) and there is increasing evidence to show that while species richness is positively correlated to a number of ecosystem processes (and an increase in ecosystem processes leads to enhanced provision of ecosystem services), the increase in ecosystem processes often reaches a plateau at moderate levels of species richness (Balvanera *et al.*, 2006). When considered spatially, there is also a lack of spatial concordance between some important ecosystem services (e.g. carbon, water) and species richness measures (Naidoo et al., 2008; Venter et al., 2009). The lack of clear, consistent spatial relationships between species richness and ecosystem services provisioning highlights a generic weakness in solely applying ecosystem services approaches because the most species-rich sites may not necessarily be those prioritised to maximise ecosystem services (as moderately species-rich areas may be of equal value) (Cardinale *et al.*, 2006).

4.2 ECOSYSTEM SERVICES APPROACHES MAY NOT PRIORITIZE ECOLOGICAL PROCESSES THAT DO NOT DELIVER BENEFITS TO PEOPLE

A related concern is that the ecological processes that generate the goods and services valued by humans are not identical to those processes required for the long-term conservation of biodiversity (Dunn, 2010). Thus, approaches that solely value those ecological processes that provide services that support human wellbeing are likely to lead to situations where other critically important ecological processes are not prioritised. This may have serious ramifications for biodiversity. The management of fire for ecosystem services versus biodiversity conservation is a good example of this. In many countries, such as the United States of America, Australia, and Israel, fire is a serious threat to human life and infrastructure (Gill & Stephens, 2009), but it is also a critical ecological process for many species (Driscoll et al., 2010a,b). It has been shown that the fire regimes designed to reduce the chances of negative impacts on humans are often inappropriate for native biodiversity and can lead to major changes in community structure, including a substantial risk of extinction (Fisher *et al.*, 2009b). Other examples include flooding and disease outbreaks – both of which play key roles in ecological dynamics but are often the subject of efforts to eliminate them (Brouwer *et al.*, 2007).

4.3 OPTIMIZING A SINGLE SERVICE MAY UNDERMINE BIODIVERSITY OR CRITICAL ECOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS

A considerable concern exists around the fact that many PES programs have been implemented to enhance one rather than multiple services. If not planned well, with a consideration of potential trade-offs, this approach could come at the expense of biodiversity. For example, maximizing carbon sequestration through tree plantations could result in the loss of ecosystem functions related to water quantity (stream flows), soil health (salinization and acidification) and biodiversity (Jackson et al., 2005). While the policy mechanism known as Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation+ (REDD+) was designed to address many of the concerns associated with the perverse environmental impacts of the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM), many conservationists and practitioners have been concerned about the risks of REDD+ on biodiversity. These risks include the concerns that decreasing deforestation in high carbon forests may shift natural resource use to low-carbon forests or non-forest ecosystems of high biodiversity value; may result in agricultural intensification through methods that are harmful to biodiversity; and/or may result in the use of forest management methods that promote the growth of high-yield or non-native species (Epple et al., 2011). However, at the 16th Conference of the Parties in December 2010, parties to the United Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) adopted the decisions known as the Cancun Agreements, which include a list of safeguards for REDD+ that address the potential negative environmental impacts associated with REDD+ and affirm that the implementation of REDD+ activities should be carried out in accordance with these safeguards (UN-REDD, 2010). The broader ecosystem services community is also working to address potential perverse outcomes of single service PES programs on biodiversity through approaches like "bundling" and "stacking", which aim to create financial incentives for conserving multiple ecosystem services and/or biodiversity and to promote more holistic ecosystem management practices (Fox et al., 2011; Cooley & Olander, 2011; Deal et al., 2012).

In general, PES programs that preserve existing ecosystems are likely to have the greatest positive impact on biodiversity, along with those programs that aim to restore degraded ecosystems. In contrast, PES programs that encourage the substitution of one agricultural land use for another may have lower benefits for biodiversity (Pagiola *et al.*, 2010). However, it is important to note that, as in the case with REDD+, the impacts of PES on biodiversity through leakage (*i.e.* displacement of activities from one site to another) could lead to potential negative impacts on biodiversity offsite. So, as with any



Ś

natural resource management based approach, the benefits and risks of a tool, like PES, for ecosystem services management and biodiversity conservation must be considered carefully before being implemented. Ideally, a biodiversity and ecosystem services tradeoffs analysis would accompany the design of any PES project or other ecosystem services project aimed at enhancing one or several ecosystem services.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Many ecosystem services approaches represent new opportunities for the sustainable management of species and ecosystems. However, it is important to recognize that while biodiversity is intimately connected to ecosystems services through various relationships (Mace et al., 2012), ecosystem services approaches and biodiversity conservation approaches may be complementary, but are not always identical pathways for achieving conservation or sustainable natural resource management. In many cases, the two approaches will be compatible and mutually reinforcing, delivering positive results for conservation targets, even if biodiversity was not the original or primary objective, and vice versa. However, it is important to understand the conditions in which these two approaches do not lead to the same outcomes so that increasingly scarce resources for biodiversity conservation may be used to target those elements of biodiversity that may not be conserved otherwise. This divergence in outcomes is most concerning with respect to species, ecosystems, and ecological process that may fall through the cracks of ecosystem services frameworks, particularly very rare or endemic species that may not play important functional roles in an ecosystem. When utilising ecosystem services approaches for conservation, planners and managers must be realistic and recognise that these approaches are not all-encompassing and there are going to be gap species, ecosystems, and ecological processes whose conservation will require tools tailored to address those issues.

Unfortunately, application of strict conservation approaches has not resulted in the achievement of many of the world's global conservation targets: none of the CBD targets for 2010 were met and species and ecosystems are declining more rapidly than ever. Thus, it is clear that in addition to the continued use of proven conservation tools such as protected areas, additional approaches will be necessary to achieve future conservation targets. Ecosystem services approaches have the potential to contribute significantly to achieving many conservation goals. The conservation and ecosystem services communities still have much to learn about the most effective and strategic application of these tools for conserving biodiversity and sustainably managing ecosystem services. But, at this stage, it is important to recognise the potential of ecosystem services approaches to contribute to biodiversity conservation and to complement other conservation tools and methods, while recognizing that there will be limitations to using ecosystem services approaches for achieving certain conservation targets, such as the protection of rare species, endemic species, and species or habitats without utilitarian value. Thus, we will continue to need focused biodiversity conservation approaches alongside new and evolving ecosystem services approaches if we are to conserve the full range of genes, species, and ecosystems that are important for all life on earth..

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

KHR would like to thank Tiphaine Lemenager and Gilles Kleitz for their invitation to speak at the meeting "Reconciling poverty eradication and quality of the environment" which was the impetus for this paper.

REFERENCES

Agardy, T. et al. (2011). Taking Steps toward Marine and Coastal Ecosystem-Based Management - An Introductory Guide. UNEP.

Balvanera, P. *et al.* (2006). Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning and services. *Ecology Letters* 9(10): 1146-1156.

Barbier, E.B. (2012). Progress and Challenges in Valuing Coastal and Marine Ecosystem Services. *Review of Environmental Economics and Policy* 6(1): 1-+.

Boyd, J. & S. Banzhaf (2007). What are ecosystem services? The need for standardized environmental accounting units. *Ecological Economics* 63(2-3): 616-626.

Brockington, D. (2002). *Fortress Conservation. The preservation of the Mkomazi Game Reserve.* James Currey, African Issues series, Oxford, England.

Brooks, T.M. *et al.* (2004). Protected areas and species. *Conservation Biology* 18: 616-618.

Brouwer, R. *et al.* (2007). Socioeconomic vulnerability and adaptation to environmental risk: A case study of climate change and flooding in Bangladesh. *Risk Analysis* 27: 313-326.

Cardinale B.J. *et al.* (2006). Effects of biodiversity on the functioning of trophic groups and ecosystems. *Nature* 443: 989–92.

Chan, K. *et al.* (2012). Rethinking ecosystem services to better address and navigate cultural values. *Ecological Economics* 74: 8-18.

Clarke, P. & Jupiter, S. (2010). Principles and Practice of Ecosystem-Based Management: A Guide for Conservation Practitioners in the Tropical Western Pacific. Suva, Fiji: Wildlife Conservation Society.

Clements, T. et al. (2010). Payments for biodiversity conserva-

tion in the context of weak institutions: Comparison of three programs from Cambodia. *Ecological Economics* 69: 1283-1291.

Cooley, D. & L. Olander (2011). *Stacking ecosystem services payments: risks and solutions*. Nicholas Institute for Environmental Policy Solutions, Working Paper NI WP 11-04.

Costanza, R. *et al.* (1997). The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Nature* 387(6630): 253-260.

Curtin, R. & R. Prellezo (2010). Understanding marine ecosystem based management: A literature review. *Marine Policy* 34: 821-830.

Daily, G.C. (1997). *Nature's Services: Societal Dependence on Natural Ecosystems.* Washington, DC., Island Press.

Daily, G.C. & K. Ellison (2002). *The New Economy of Nature: The Quest To Make Conservation Profitable.* Washington, D.C., Island Press.

Daw, T. *et al.* (2011). Applying the ecosystem services concept to poverty alleviation: the need to disaggregate human wellbeing. *Environmental Conservation* 38(4): 370-379.

De Groot, R.S. (1992). Functions of Nature, Evaluation of Nature in Environmental Planning, Management and Decision Making. Utrecht: Wolters-Noordhoff.

Deal, R.L. *et al.* (2012). Bundling of ecosystem services to increase forestland value and enhance sustainable forest management. *Forest Policy and Economics* 17: 69–76.

DeClerck, F. *et al.* (2006). The Role of Ecological Theory and Practice in Poverty Alleviation and Environmental Conservation. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 4: 533-540.

Dietz, R.W. & Czech, B. (2005). Conservation deficits for the continental United States: an ecosystem gap analysis. *Conservation Biology* 19: 1478–1487.

Driscoll, D.A. *et al.* (2010a). Resolving conflicts in fire management using decision theory: asset-protection versus biodiversity conservation. *Conservation Letters* 3: 215-225.

Driscoll, D.A. *et al.* (2010b). Fire management for biodiversity conservation: key research questions and our capacity to answer them. *Biological Conservation* 143: 1928-1939.

Dudley, N. (2008). *Guidelines for Applying Protected Area Management Categories.* Gland, Switzerland: IUCN.

Dunn, R.R. (2010). Global mapping of ecosystem disservices: the unspoken reality that Nature sometimes kills us. *Biotropica* 42(5): 555-557.

Emerton, L. *et al.* (2006). *Sustainable financing of Protected Areas: a global review of challenges and options.* Best Practice Protected Area Guidelines Series 13: i.

Epple, C. *et al.* (2011). *Making Biodiversity Safeguards for REDD+ Work in Practice. Developing Operational Guidelines and Identifying Capacity Requirements.* Summary Report. UNEP-WCMC, Cambridge, UK.

Fisher, B. *et al.* (2009a). Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. *Ecological Economics* 68(3): 643-653.

Fisher, J.L. *et al.* (2009b). Altered vegetation structure and composition linked to fire frequency and plant invasion in a biodiverse woodland. *Biological Conservation* 142: 2270–2281.

Fox, J. *et al.* (2011). Stacking opportunities and risks in environmental credit markets. *Environmental Law Reporter* 41: 10121-10125.

Garnett, S.T. *et al.* (2011). Investing in threatened species conservation: does corruption outweigh purchasing power? *PLoS One* 6: e22749. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022749.

Gill, A.M. & S.L. Stephens (2009). Scientific and social challenges for the management of fire-prone wildland-urban interfaces. *Environmental Research Letters* 4: doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/4/3/034014.

Goldman, R.L. & H. Tallis (2009). A critical analysis of ecosystem services as a tool in conservation projects: The possible perils, the promises, and the partnerships. <u>Annals of the New</u> <u>York Academy of Science</u> 1162: 63-78.

Grabowski, J.H. & C.H. Peterson (2007). Restoring oyster reefs to recover ecosystem services. In: Cuddington, K., J.E. Byers, W.G. Wilson & A. Hastings (Eds.) *Ecosystem Engineers: Plants to Protists*, 1st Edition, pp. 281–298. USA: Academic Press, Elsevier.

Hein, L. (2011). Economic benefits generated by protected areas: the case of the Hoge Veluwe Forest, the Netherlands. *Ecology and Society* 16(2): article 13. Avalable from: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol16/iss2/art13/

Hicks, R. *et al.* (2004). *The Economic Benefits of Oyster Reef Restoration in the Chesapeake Bay.* Final Report: Chesapeake Bay Foundation, April 20, 2004.

Houdet, J. *et al.* (2012). Understanding changes in business strategies regarding biodiversity and ecosystem services. *Ecological Economics* 73: 37-46.

Ingram, J.C. et al. (2012). Integrating Ecology and Poverty Reduction: Ecological Dimensions. New York: Springer Science



50

and Business Media, LLC.

Jackson, R. *et al.* (2005). Trading water for carbon with biological carbon sequestration. *Science* 310: 1944-1947.

Jepson, P. & R.J. Whittaker (2002). Histories of protected areas: internationalism of conservationist values and their adoption in the Netherlands Indies (Indonesia). *Environment and History* 8: 129-172.

Karieva, P. & M. Marvier (2007). Conservation for the people. *Scientific American* October 2007: 50-54.

Klein, C. *et al.* (2008). Effectiveness of marine reserve networks in representing biodiversity and minimizing impact to fishermen: a comparison of two approaches used in California. *Conservation Letters* 1: 44-51.

Kremen, C. (2005). Managing ecosystem services: what do we need to know about their ecology? *Ecology Letters* 8(5): 468-479.

Ladle, R. & R.J. Whittaker (2011). *Conservation Biogeography*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.

Leopold, A. (1949). Sand County Almanac: And Sketches Here and There. New York: Oxford University Press.

Leslie, H.M. & K.L. McLeod (2007). Confronting the challenges of implementing marine ecosystem-based management. *Frontiers of Ecology and the Environment* 5: 540–548.

Luck, G.W. *et al.* (2009). Quantifying the contribution of organisms to the provision of ecosystem services. *Bioscience* 59: 223-235.

MA [Millennium Ecosystem Assessment] (2005). *Ecosystems* and Human Well-being: A Framework for Assessment. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.

McCauley, D.J. (2006). Selling out on nature. *Nature* 443: 27-28.

Mace, G.M. *et al.* (2012). Biodiversity and ecosystem services: a multilayered relationship. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 27: 19-26.

Macfadyen, S. *et al.* (2012). Managing ecosystem services and biodiversity conservation in agricultural landscapes: are the solutions the same? *Journal of Applied Ecology* 49: 690-694.

McLeod, K.L. et al. (2005). Scientific consensus statement on marine ecosystem-based management. Statement prepared by scientists and policy experts to provide information about coasts and oceans to U.S. policy-makers. Released on March 21, 2005. Available from: www.compassonline.org/pdf_files/ EBM_Consensus_Statement_v12.pdf.

Margules C.R. & R.L. Pressey (2000). Systematic conservation planning. *Nature* 405: 243-253.

Mora, C. & P.F. Sale (2011). Ongoing global biodiversity loss and the need to move beyond protected areas: a review of the technical and practical shortcomings of protected areas on land and sea. *Marine Ecology-Progress Series* 434: 251-266.

Myers, N. (1983). A Wealth of Wild Species: Storehouse for Human Welfare. Essex: Westview Press.

Naeem, S. (2012). Looking forward: The future and evolving role of ecology in society. In: Ingram, J.C., F. DeClerck, F & C. Rumbaitis-del Rio (Eds.) *Integrating Ecology and Poverty Reduction: The Application of Ecology in Development Solutions, Volume 1*, pp. 273-301. New York: Springer Science and Business Media, LLC.

Naidoo, R. *et al.* (2008). Global mapping of ecosystem services and conservation priorities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105: 9495-9500.

Naidoo, R. *et al.* (2009). Economic benefits of standing forests in highland areas of Borneo: quantification and policy impacts. *Conservation Letters* 2(1): 35-44.

Nelson, F. *et al.* (2010). Payments for ecosystem services as a framework for community-based conservation in Northern Tanzania. *Conservation Biology* 24(1): 78-85.

Norton, L. R. *et al.* (2012). Trialling a method to quantify the 'cultural services' of the English landscape using Countryside Survey data. *Land Use Policy* 29(2): 449-455.

Pagiola, S. *et al.* (2005). Paying for biodiversity conservation services - experience in Colombia, Costa Rica, and Nicaragua. *Mountain Research and Development* 25: 206-211.

Pagiola, S. *et al.* (2010). Can payments for watershed services help save biodiversity? A spatial analysis of highland Guatemala. *Journal of Natural Resource Policy Research* 2:7-24.

Possingham H.P. *et al.* (2001). Making smart conservation decisions. In: Orians, G. & M. Soulé (Eds.) *Research Priorities for Conservation Biology*, pp. 225-244. California: Island Press.

Price, K. *et al.* (2009). Ecosystem-based management in the Great Bear Rainforest. *Forest Ecology and Management* 258: 495-503.

Redford, K.H. et al. (2003). Mapping the conservation land-

scape. Conservation Biology 17: 116-131.

Redford, K.H. & W.M. Adams (2009). Payment for ecosystem services and the challenge of saving nature. *Conservation Biology* 23(4): 785-787.

Reyers, B. *et al.* (2012). Finding common ground for biodiversity and ecosystem services. *Bioscience* 62: 503-507.

Sachedina, H. & F. Nelson (2012). The development of payments for ecosystem services as a community based conservation strategy in East Africa. In: Ingram, J.C., F. DeClerck & C. Rumbaitis-del Rio (Eds.) *Integrating Ecology and Poverty Reduction: The Application of Ecology in Development Solutions, Volume 2*, pp. 149-171. New York: Springer Science and Business Media, LLC.

Slootweg, R. & P. van Beukering (2008). *Valuation of Ecosystem Services and Strategic Environmental Assessment: Lessons from Influential Cases*. Utrech, The Netherlands: Netherlands Commission for Environmental Assessment.

Tallis, H. & S. Polasky (2009). Mapping and valuing ecosystem services as an approach for conservation and naturalresource management. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sci* <u>ence</u>1162: 265-283.

TEEB [The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity] (2010). The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: Mainstreaming the Economics of Nature. A synthesis of the approach, conclusions and recommendations of TEEB. Available at http://www. teebweb.org/Portals/25/TEEB%20Synthesis/TEEB_SynthReport_09_2010_online.pdf

Turner, W. *et al.* (2007). Global conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services. *Bioscience* 57: 868-873.

Turner, W. et al. (2012). Global biodiversity conservation and poverty alleviation. *BioScience* 62:85-92.

UN-REDD [United Nations-Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation program] (2010). UN-REDD Programme Newsletter, December 2010, January 2011, Issue 15. http://www.un-redd.org/Newsletter15/Introduction/tabid/7065/Default.aspx, Accessed April 15, 2012.

Venter, O. *et al.* (2009). Carbon payments as a safeguard for threatened tropical mammals. *Conservation Letters* 2: 123-129.

Watson, J.E.M. *et al.* (2011a). The capacity of Australia's protected-area system to represent threatened species. *Conservation Biology* 25:324-332.

Watson, J.E.M. *et al.* (2011b). Systematic Conservation Planning: Past, Present and Future. In: Whittaker, R. & R.

Ladle (Eds.) *Conservation Biogeography*, pp. 136-160. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.

Whittaker, R. *et al.* (2005). Conservation biogeography: assessment and prospect. *Diversity and Distributions* 11: 3-23.

Wunder, S. (2005). *Payments for environmental services: Some nuts and bolts.* Occasional Paper No. 42. Jakarta, Indonesia: CIFOR.

Wunder, S. *et al.* (2008). Taking stock: A comparative analysis of payments for environmental services programs in developed and developing countries. *Ecological Economics* 65(4): 834-852.